
Date Published:2 July 2018     

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 11 July 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Laura Powick

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2018.

Laura Powick

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda

Laura Powick

4  CROSS COUNTRY RAIL FRANCHISE CONSULTATION 

To receive a verbal update on the consultation. 

Robert Niblett

5  LIBRARIES (Pages 9 - 10)

To receive a report on how libraries have developed, the range of 
services provided by libraries, and community hub relationships.

Jane Everiss

6  ELECTRIC VEHICLE INFRASTRUCTURE 

To receive a presentation on Electric Vehicle Infrastructure. 

Philip Williams



    

7  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 11 - 12)

The Committee to note a report from the Chief Fire Officer, detailing 
information on the portfolio of services provided by the 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of 
Gloucestershire County Council.

Andy 
Hermiston

8  COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT (Pages 13 - 46)

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to update the Committee on current issues. 

The Commissioning Director’s Report also includes the Quarter 4  
2017/18 Performance Report. 

Nigel Riglar

9  WORK PLAN (Pages 47 - 48)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings. (Work plan attached). 

Cllr Rob Bird

10  FUTURE MEETINGS 

19 September 2018
7 November 2018
16 January 2019
6 March 2019
22 May 2019
17 July 2019
18 September 2019
26 November 2019

Laura Powick

Membership –  Cllr Robert Bird (Chair), Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Kevin Cromwell, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Keith Rippington, Cllr Stephen Hirst 
and Cllr Rachel Smith 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Wednesday 9 May 2018 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire 
Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Robert Bird (Chair)
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Jeremy Hilton

Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Rachel Smith

Substitutes:

Apologies: Cllr Keith Rippington

64. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Keith Rippington.

There were no substitutions at the meeting. 

65. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2018 were agreed and signed by the 
Chair.

66. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made. 

67. AIR POLLUTION AND ITS IMPACT ON PUBLIC HEALTH TASK GROUP 

Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Chair of the Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health Task 
Group, presented the report and recommendations of the task group to the 
Committee. 

On 12 July 2017, the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee received a 
report on the Air Quality Schools Pilot Project. Following a discussion, the 
Committee agreed that a task group should be established to consider further 
issues relating to air pollution. The task group met four times between November 
2017 and April 2018, which included hosting a multi-stakeholder workshop on air 
quality in Gloucestershire, to carry out its research and consider its 
recommendations. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Cllr Hilton explained that the report, which set out 12 high-level recommendations, 
was a starting point to address the issue of air pollution and its impact on public 
health in Gloucestershire. In particular, the task group identified the need for better 
air quality monitoring, as evidence for air pollution levels within the County is 
currently based heavily on modelled data. The task group therefore recommended 
that a Gloucestershire Air Quality Monitoring Group, comprising of relevant officers 
from the district and county councils be established by the end of September 2018.

The task group also recognised the need for increased partnership working across 
both private and public sector organisations to drive forward strategies to improve 
air quality and to reduce the impact of air pollution on public health in 
Gloucestershire. Cllr Hilton highlighted the enthusiasm across organisations to 
address air quality in the County, which was evidenced at the multi-stakeholder 
workshop. The task group therefore recommended that a Gloucestershire Air 
Quality and Health Partnership, comprising of representatives from both public and 
private sector organisations, including the relevant Gloucestershire County Council 
Cabinet Member, be established by December 2018 to drive the development and 
delivery of the agenda for air quality and health in Gloucestershire. 

Several members thanked the task group members and officers for the work that 
had been undertaken, and welcomed the report and its recommendations. 

One member asked for clarification on the sources of air pollution for 
Gloucestershire and on partnership working with neighbouring local authorities on 
air quality. 

Cllr Rachel Smith expressed the view that the recommendations were not ambitious 
enough, and proposed several amendments. There was a particular discussion 
regarding the proposed amendment of Recommendation 9 of the report. Cllr Rachel 
Smith expressed the view that the original recommendation was too vague and 
should be more specific. Cllr Hilton explained that the recommendation was high-
level, and that it would be up to officers to consider how to technically implement 
the recommendations. 

The Committee discussed the proposals; however, on being put to the vote, the 
majority of members (7) voted against amending the report recommendations, and 
in favour of the report being presented to Cabinet for its consideration at its meeting 
on 6 June 2018. Cllr Rachel Smith voted against the report being presented to 
Cabinet. 

68. PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 

At full Council on 14 February 2018, an amendment to the 2018-19 budget was 
proposed to allocate £50,000 revenue recurring to Public Rights of Way to fund an 
additional member of staff. The amendment was not supported; however, it was 
agreed that the Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure would 
investigate the issues, including timescale and officer capacity, and report back to 
the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee on 9 May 2018.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, presented 
the report on measures to address the backlog of applications for Modification 
Orders to the Definitive Map.

The Committee was informed that the current resource allocated to the Definitive 
Map Modification Order (DMMO) team was currently adequate, and with the 
commencement of the relevant legislation, would be sufficient to reduce the backlog 
by the 2026 deadline. However, there was a risk that some applications may not be 
determined within the stipulated 12 month determination deadline, and that the 
current resource would also not be sufficient should there be an increase in 
applications leading up to the 2026 deadline.

It was therefore recommended that the numbers of applications continue to be 
monitored, that the existing team continue to explore ways of moving applications 
through the process in a timely manner, and that the Commissioning Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure investigates potential funding for a fixed-term 
outreach post to liaise with and proactively manage demand from affected 
organisations. 

Several members raised concerns over the number of outstanding applications. It 
was noted that the sections of the Deregulation Act 2015, which would allow 
officers to deal with particular applications in a more streamlined manner had not 
yet been commenced.

The Committee considered the report in detail. Following the discussion, the 
Commissioning Director committed to consider recruiting to an outreach post as 
soon as possible within the next 6 months, and for a report from the post holder to 
be received by the Committee 6 months from the commencement of their role. 

It was also agreed that the Cabinet Member would write to the Local Government 
Association to determine whether any work was underway to lobby the Government 
on the production of guidance for the Deregulation Act 2015, and that the Cabinet 
Member would update the Committee on progress with the processing of DMMOs 
in 6 months’ time. Additionally, regular updates would be included in the 
Commissioning Director’s report. 

69. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

Stewart Edgar, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report to the Committee, which 
detailed information on the portfolio of services provided by Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service (GFRS). 

In particular, the Committee was informed that the GFRS People and 
Organisational Development Strategy 2018-2023 was launched on 1 April 2018, 
that GFRS had developed its Capital Procurement Plan up to 2023, and that the 
GFRS Service Liaison Lead had now been appointed. Additionally, Registration 
Services had merged with Libraries, and Jane Everiss had taken on the new role of 
Head of Libraries and Registration.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Members noted that an update on the revised Fire and Rescue National 
Framework, which would be coming into force on 1 June 2018, would be provided 
to the Committee in due course.

Members were also informed about a fire at a Grade 1 listed building in Gloucester 
City Centre on 7 May 2018. One member requested to see the incident report for 
the fire. It was also clarified that details of this incident would be included on a data 
system for fire fighters to access in the future. 

In response to a question, it was explained that GFRS was engaging with Suffolk 
Fire and Rescue Service to share best practice in preparation for the HMICFRS 
inspection. 

In response to a further question, it was clarified that energy efficient and low 
sulphur green diesel fire engines would be considered in the procurement of new 
fire engines. 

70. COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT 

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, updated the 
Committee on current issues. In particular, members noted that:

a) Feedback on the low emission and electric vehicle car pool scheme for staff 
members had been positive. Regular updates on the scheme would be 
included in the Commissioning Director’s Report;

b) In response to a High Court ruling in February 2018, DEFRA had issued a 
direction to 33 towns and cities in England where air quality levels did not 
meet EU legal limits for Nitrogen Dioxide, which included Cheltenham. 
DEFRA had given these towns and cities until 31st July 2018 to respond with 
proposals to comply with these limits. Officers from Cheltenham Borough 
Council and the County Council were liaising with each other on a response;

c) In an update on the Cheltenham Transport Plan, the trial closure of Boots 
Corner under an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order would be delayed to 
commence at the end of June 2018;

d) In an update on the Highways England Forward Fund, the County Council’s 
Expression of Interest for an M5 Junction 10 upgrade had been successful, 
and that the County Council had been invited to enter the ‘co-development’ 
phase, working with Government to develop a business case for M5 Junction 
10; and that

e) A report on waste transfer services procurement had been considered and 
approved at the Cabinet meeting in April 2018, which would impact on 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough Councils. Officers at the district and 
county councils were holding conversations on the best way forward. 

Members asked questions, in particular, on the road safety review, funding for the 
development of M5 Junction 9, waste and transfer station licences, Great Western 
Railway services, highway maintenance following the severe winter, Hempstead 
Household Recycling Centre, and the residual waste project. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

It was requested that the County Council’s response to the Government’s 
consultation on changes to the National Planning Policy Framework be circulated to 
Committee members. 

The Committee noted the report.

71. WORK PLAN 

At its meeting on 11 July 2018, the Committee would receive a report on libraries, 
particularly on how libraries had developed, the range of services provided by 
libraries, and community hub relationships. The Committee would also receive a 
report on electric vehicle infrastructure.

It was proposed that, at the September meeting, dual hatted Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (GEGSC) and Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee members would provide an update on GEGSC’s 
consideration of an item on national park status for the Cotswolds. A report on the 
performance of Trading Standards would also be received. 

72. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The Committee noted the meeting dates for the remainder of 2018. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.45 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
9 May 2018

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

118. Public Rights of 
Way

The Cabinet Member for Fire, 
Planning and Infrastructure to 
write to the Local Government 
Association to determine 
whether any work is underway 
to lobby the Government on the 
production of guidance for the 
Deregulation Act 2015.

Cllr Nigel Moor Completed

2 Public Rights of 
Way

- The Commissioning 
Director to consider 
recruiting to an outreach 
post as soon as possible 
within the next 6 months; 
and

- A report from the post 
holder to be received by the 
Committee 6 months from 
the commencement of their 
role. 

Nigel Riglar

New Post 
Holder

Ongoing

Added to the work plan 
under future items 

3 Public Rights of 
Way

- The Cabinet Member for 
Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure to update the 
Committee on progress with 
the processing of DMMOs 
in 6 months time;

- Regular updates to be 
included in the 
Commissioning Director’s 
report.

Cllr Nigel Moor

Nigel Riglar/ 
Pete Wiggins

Added to the work plan

Ongoing

4 Chief Fire Officer 
Report

To share the incident report for 
the fire at the New Inn, 
Gloucester with Cllr Hilton.

Stewart Edgar Completed

5 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To include updates on the new 
low emission pool car scheme 
for staff in the Commissioning 
Director’s Report

Nigel Riglar/ 
Pete Wiggins

Ongoing

6 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To circulate the County 
Council’s response to the 
Government’s consultation on 
changes to the National 
Planning Policy Framework to 
Committee members. 

Relevant 
Officer/ Laura 
Powick

Completed 

7 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To circulate any indicative 
funding for M5 Junction 9 with 
Committee members.

Relevant 
Officer/ Laura 
Powick

Completed

8 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To raise concerns regarding 
Sunday train services between 

Nigel Riglar Robert Niblett has 
contacted FGW to raise 

Page 7



Gloucester and Swindon with 
Great Western Railway.

concerns and request 
an update.

9 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To arrange a meeting with Cllr 
Hilton regarding Hempstead 
Household Recycling Centre.

Nigel Riglar A date for a visit for 
Committee members is 
to be arranged.

10 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To update the Residual Waste 
Project section of the 
Commissioning Director’s 
report, including the working 
link.

Nigel Riglar/ 
Pete Wiggins

Completed 

11 Work Plan -  A report on libraries, 
particularly on how 
libraries have developed, 
the range of services 
provided by libraries, and 
community hub 
relationships, and a 
report on electric vehicle 
infrastructure to be 
received at the meeting 
on 11 July 2018

- At the September 
meeting, dual hatted 
Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth 
Scrutiny Committee 
(GEGSC) and 
Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny 
Committee members to 
provide an update on 
GEGSC’s consideration 
of an item on national 
park status for the 
Cotswolds, and a report 
on the performance of 
Trading Standards to be 
received. 

Laura Powick Items added to the 
work plan

Page 8



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee
11th July 2018

To receive a report on how libraries have developed, the range of services provided by 
libraries, and community hub relationships

Despite public perception Libraries are no longer dusty, quiet places that are the domain of 
middle class well read ladies & gents.

Public libraries are digital, creative & cultural centres of excellence – a thriving network of 
innovative civic spaces (virtual and physical) offering freely accessible services that support 
reading & literacy, develop skills, foster creativity, promote health & wellbeing and provide 
a platform for community participation.  More importantly we are seen as an impartial, non 
threatening trusted community space with Gloucestershire Libraries receiving over 2 million 
visits per year.

Development of Partnerships

We have recently partnered with Gfirst LEP to provide 31 access points to business advice 
and information through The Growth Hub @ The Library.  We are today launching our first 
Innovation Lab at Coleford Library to support small businesses, start ups and academic 
students to explore their ideas and spark economic growth.  We regularly hold job fairs, 
career days and help customers to undertake their online job searches and applications.  In 
addition, we assist with online skills where customers are not confident or need help.

We support Registration Services and assist customers to book online birth & death 
appointments and copy certificates and we will be using the merger of Libraries & 
Registration to look at how we can work more closely together to promote opportunities to 
residents registering births or deaths.

We have taken on the provision of  children’s services in libraries where we had library 
children’s centres provide children’s activities to encourage reading and learning and 
supporting the School Ready  agenda.

We have received a significant grant from the Esme Fairbairn Foundation and in partnership 
with Create Glos are delivering a programme of cultural activities within libraries in areas of 
cultural deprivation in order to make Art the Everyday.

Library use and support for County Council Agenda

All our library staff are trained and proficient in the use of digital devices and they have 
assisted with 51,753 IT enquiries in 17/18.

Our public PCs are heavily used with over 258,000 sessions taking place in the past year 
printing over 520,000 pages.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



We have volunteer computer buddies who help with IT enquiries and in 2017/18 had 2,110 
hours of volunteer computer help.  We operate code clubs, STEM sessions,, job clubs, get 
online sessions, digital play days and soon a visa and citizenship checking service.

Our Summer Reading Challenge attracts nearly 10,000 children per year with 254,443 books 
read over the summer of 17/18 by children in Gloucestershire and 134 young people 
volunteering to help.  We are expecting an increase in take up this year due to the theme of 
Mischief Makers in connection with The Beano. (Reading Agency)

We support the Council’s Health agenda by providing Health & Wellbeing zones, dementia 
reading groups (all staff are Dementia friends), Books on Prescription, (over 19,500 issues 
since 2016) with 3,500 in the first half of this year.  Volunteering opportunities and Library 
clubs, both of which address social isolation.

We are leading the way with digital innovation – two of our libraries Bishops Cleeve & Up 
Hatherley have digital gadget bars, interactive end panels and the staff have changed their 
way of working and are now out from behind counters using mobile devices in their day to 
day job.  Bishops Cleeve had an Open+ system installed in November 17, which allows 
customers to self serve with no staff present.  This increased their opening hours by 31 
hours per week with little revenue cost and visits are up by 7% over the previous year.

We are busy updating our libraries further with S106 developer’s contributions with 
Cheltenham & Gloucester having been upgraded recently.

When comparing Gloucestershire to South West Authorities, Gloucestershire has the lowest 
total revenue expenditure per 1,000 population, but is the 2nd largest of the 14 authorities 
in terms of population.  Our number of volunteers are above average with Gloucestershire 
having the 3rd highest number of volunteers in the South West.

Finally, I’d like to finish on a slide which, I hope demonstrates, some powerful numbers:

UK Libraries have 282 million visits a year, 23.5 milion library visits every month which is the 
equivalent to half of England, 5.423 million visits every week which is equivalent to the 
population of Scotland, 777,602 visits every day which is equivalent to the population of 
Leeds; 32,191 visits every hour which is the equivalent to the capacity of Leicester’s King 
Power Stadium, 536 visits every minute that 8.9 library visits every second

Page 10



1

Title Chief Fire Officer Report
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services

Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Coroner Service and Civil 
Protection Team. 

Date of meeting 11 July 2018
Purpose of Report To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service provision.    

1. Fire and Rescue Service
1.1 Wholetime Duty Shift Review
In support of IRMP Key Objective (Reconfigure and Reform our Service), we are exploring options to 
improve resilience and efficiency across all five whole-time Stations. Following consultation with the 
wider fire sector, two potentially viable options have been highlighted. Impact assessments are 
underway focussing on:

 Continuing to match resources to risk and demand whilst improving fire fighter safety. 
 To ensure an effective and efficient system of work for the delivery of all services 
 To ensure the service delivery model reflects the operational requirements of fire stations 
 To consider value for money principles at all times. 

1.2 HMICFRS update
The inspection process has officially commenced across England. On 1 May 2018, GFRS supplied 
the first batch of data to the HMICFRS data team for consideration. Consultation with staff using the 
inspection methodology has already highlighted the good work we do, and identified areas where we 
can further improve on identified outcomes to achieve the best possible grading from our own  
inspection. 

1.3 Home Office National statistics data (year-end December 2017)
The Home Office has published workforce diversity and incident data for all FRS in England.

Workforce Diversity for Gloucestershire
Percentage by gender (number and proportion of women firefighters)
 Wholetime at 12.2% is second highest (the highest is Lincolnshire at 13.5%)
 Retained at 9.7% is highest (next highest is Staffordshire at 8.5%)
 All Firefighters at 10.8% is highest (next highest is Lincolnshire at 7.6%)

Percentage by ethnicity (proportion of firefighters from an ethnic minority group)
 Wholetime at 7% is third highest (highest is Greater London at 13.3%)
 Retained is the lowest along with five other Shire Counties.
 All Firefighters is 10th highest.

Average age (years of age)
 Wholetime has the highest average age of firefighters at 46 (national average is 43)
 Retained reflects the national position at 41 (national average is 40)
 All Firefighters reflect the national position at 43 (national average is 42)

1.4 National Framework (May 2018)

Current Position

National Framework Gap Analysis

The revised Fire and Rescue National Framework (England) went live on 1 June 2018. 

Outcomes for Gloucestershire Fire Authority
Powers:
Section 1.4 of the framework states ‘every fire and rescue authority must have regard to the 
Framework in carrying out their functions. Every authority must publish an annual statement of 
assurance of compliance with the Framework’.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



2

Assessment of activities within this gap analysis shows that Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Authority are compliant with both of these requirements.

Priorities:
Section 1.7 outlines priorities for fire and rescue authorities; namely:

 Make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and response to fire 
and rescue related incidents;

 Identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks their areas face;
 Collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to increase the 

efficiency and effectiveness of the service they provide;
 Be accountable to communities for the service they provide; and
 Develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled, flexible and diverse.

Gloucestershire Fire Authority is viewed as compliant with these requirements. 

Areas for development:

Delivery of Functions:

 Response – BCM arrangements; plans are in place and a robust testing regime is currently 
being developed.

 Financial plans – An overarching Medium Term Financial Strategy is in place; GCC are 
currently working on a more ‘in-depth’ plan that provides specific detail.

1.5 Firefighter Safety Programme update
This programme will enhance our operational competence making firefighters as safe and as effective 
as they can be. To support this programme our current recording system (PDRPro) has been updated 
in line with new technology and modern working practices, the Service is the first in the country to 
migrate over to Version 5 of this product. Learnpro has also been introduced and this provides a 
platform for interactive learning. 

2. Civil Protection Team
2.1 Business Continuity Management (BCM) Review and Testing Programme 2018/19
To ensure that all service areas have strong BCM plans in place a council-wide review and testing 
programme is being carried out on a timetable basis to be completed by March 2019. 

3. Trading Standards Team
3.1 Trading Ban
A shop in Eastgate Street has been closed and banned from trading for 3 months. The shop was 
identified as one of the most prolific sources of illegal tobacco in the city; surveillance suggested an 
annual turnover of between £1.3m to £2m.

Report Ends

Page 12



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
 

11th July 2018 
 

Commissioning Director’s Report 
 
This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.   

1 Decisions 

1.1 Relevant decisions by Cabinet, Cabinet Members, County Council and delegated to 
Officers: 

 Air Pollution Scrutiny Task Group (Cabinet, Jun) 

 Sub National Transport Bodies (Cabinet, Jun) 

 Highways Capital Programme 2018-19 (Cabinet, Jun) 

 Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2017-18 (Cabinet, Jun) 

 Contract Award for the A40 Over Roundabout Improvement Scheme to Britannia 
Construction Ltd (Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, May) 

 Appointment of Independent Analyst to conduct a Waste Composition Analysis 
Study (Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, May) 

2 Highway and Transport Authority 

2.1 Highway Maintenance 
2.1.1 Highways Contract (update) 

 Mobilisation with the new Structural Maintenance (SM) contractor has gone well 
with major resurfacing schemes such as the A40 Over Causeway and the A4173 
where works were completed in April and May. 

 Tenders were returned on the 23rd April from five bidders for the Term 
Maintenance Contract (TMC).  Evaluations will take place in May and a shortlist 
of 3 bidders will begin competitive negotiation sessions in June.  

 Cabinet Panel (cross-party) met in April and scrutinised the evaluation process 
for the procurement as well as discussing some of the issues around the 
demobilisation of the Amey contract. 

 A difficult winter (more than twice the normal average of freeze/ thaw days) has 
left a significant increased backlog of potholes.  Amey put additional gangs on 
the network as well as two jet patching machines during March and April.  In 
addition, overtime was authorised for gangs with weekend working to help 
recover the network as quickly as possible.  By the end of May emergency and 
next working day defects performance was back on track at or above 95% 
performance (in month).  28 day defects also recovered to above 90% completed 
on time before the end of May.  By early June Amey will begin moving some 
pothole gangs onto the minor works programme.   

 The programme of capital works for structural maintenance will be published on 
the Council’s website at the end of May.  This is the first year which see’s the 
doubling of the resurfacing programme as part of the £150m investment in 
highways.  This year’s programme has a focus on main roads with a number of 
large A road resurfacing schemes.  Years 3 and 4 of the programme is more 
focused on local C and Unclassified roads. 

2.1.2 Highways Local (update) 

 Highways Local works are likely to begin in late June or early July.  Members 
have been asked to engage with their Local Highways Manager before the end of 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1132
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1124
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1123
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1122
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1114
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1114
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1112
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1112


May to confirm what works they want completed this year.  The target is to 
complete 80% or more of the works by December given that this is the last year 
of the Amey contract and the desire is to have the 4th quarter focused on 
mobilisation of the new contractor. 

2.1.3 Lengthsmen (no change) 

 The Lengthsmen programme will start in May as gangs are currently working on
defect repairs and will continue to be needed to assist in catching up with the
backlog of defects from this winter.

2.1.4 Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs, update) 

 2017/18 TRO budget (£100k agreed at Council) – four schemes have been
successfully scored in priority assessment:

o Wotton under Edge Parking Restriction Package – Formal consultation
complete and considering objections before a decision can be made on
how the scheme can progress.

o Cheltenham Parking Restrictions Package – Formal Consultation is
complete.  Objections have been received and upheld and officers are
preparing a TRO report.

o Gloucester Restricted Parking Zone – Informal and statutory consultation is
complete; formal consultation is planned for June/July 2018.

o Gloucester Prohibition of Driving – Informal and statutory consultation is
complete; formal consultation is planned for June/July 2018.

 A list has been compiled of all TRO’s (including hump notices and development
funded TROs) that are ongoing.  This list is updated monthly and is available on
the Council’s website here.

2.1.5 LED Street Lighting Project (update) 

 A programme of works for 2018/19 has now been published on the Council’s 
website here, attached as Annex 1.  Officers from the Street lighting team and 
from Skanska were available during the lunch break outside of Full Council in 
May to answer questions.  Over 40,000 lights have now been converted to LED 
out of the 54,000 required.

2.2 Highway Useage 
2.2.1 Network Management 

 Asset Management (update)
o An Annual Report is produced retrospectively outlining Asset Management

activities around Highways Maintenance.  The latest version covering
2016/17 is now available on the County Council’s website and can be
viewed here.

o The Transport Asset Management Plan is available on the website in a
chapter by chapter format to allow for a gradual updating of the Plan.  It
can be viewed here.

o The Asset Management Policy statement is being reviewed to reflect the
introduction of the new Code of Practice for Management of Highway
Infrastructure.  A paper is being prepared for the July Cabinet meeting
regarding adoption of the new Code of Practice.

 Parking (update)
o Cheltenham – in the Railway zone officers are monitoring parking and

exploring options to manage parking displacement.
o Want to know where you can or can’t park? Our publicly accessible

ParkMap system is now available on the County Council’s website here,

Page 14

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/roads-parking-and-rights-of-way/traffic-regulation-orders-tro-and-traffic-schemes/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/roads-parking-and-rights-of-way/major-projects/led-street-lighting/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2153/highways-annual-asset-management-report-2017-r1.pdf
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/transport-asset-management-plan-tamp/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/roads-parking-and-rights-of-way/parking/parking-and-bus-lane-management/


significantly improving public self-service through online access to parking 
information. 

 Road Safety (update) 
o A guide explaining the changes in Road Safety and where to go for support 

and information has been published in Members Matters.  Following 
interviews we have appointed to the new ThinkTravel Coordinator post to 
support our work on active travel, the Council’s Travel Plan and to oversee 
school travel plans.   

o The most recent quarter has provisionally seen an increase in the number 
of killed and seriously injured older people.  The higher older population, 
increasing retirement age and more active retirements have probably 
contributed to the higher totals.  Officers will be undertaking a detailed 
study of the older road user casualties. 

 Air Quality (update) 
o The Air Quality and Health Task Group report was considered by Cabinet 

at its June meeting.  Officers are following up the recommendations of the 
report. 

o In response to a High Court ruling in February 2018, DEFRA has issued a 
direction to 33 towns and cities in England where air quality levels do not 
meet EU legal limits for Nitrogen Dioxide.  It has given them until 31st July 
2018 to respond with proposals to comply with these limits within the 
shortest possible timescale.  Cheltenham is the only Gloucestershire 
authority directly affected.  Officers from the County and Borough Councils 
are liaising with each other to seek a coordinated the response.  

2.2.2 Cheltenham Transport Plan (update) 

 Phase three (Royal Well) – monitoring for Phase 3 was undertaken in late 
February/ early March.  The monitoring data shows no significant changes to 
traffic flow have occurred across the survey sites as a result of Phase 3 and 
consequently the scheme has been progressed to Phase four. 

 Phase four (Trial Boots Corner Closure) – will commence on 28th June 2018 
under an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO).  The ETRO is 
composed of two distinct orders; a section of Clarence Street and North Street 
are covered by an ETRO Bus Gate with a number of exemptions. Clarence 
Parade, the western end of Clarence Street, Pittville Street, the Promenade and 
Imperial Circus is to be restricted by a Prohibition of Driving (PoD) ETRO at all 
times, with a number of exemptions for servicing and access.  It is the intention to 
undertake civil enforcement of the bus gate order via ANPR camera.  The 
experimental TRO will run for an initial 10 month period, as specified by the TRO 
committee recommendation in Jan 2015.  An officer report and recommendation 
on whether to make permanent, modify or abandon will be created following the 
formal consultation period ending at Month 6.  This will be discussed with the 
Commissioning Director: Communities & Infrastructure for review prior to any 
TRO committee.  If the recommendation/ decision is to modify the experiment, it 
will run for the full 18 month period to December 2019. 

 An initial information letter drop was undertaken in mid-February to councillors 
and properties within the Phase 4 area of interest and previous objectors to the 
overall scheme.  The information was also provided as a media release to the 
general public.  The responses have been used to help refine the experimental 
TRO prior to commencement. 

Page 15



2.2.3 Cycling (update) 

 There are a number of initiatives/projects currently underway for cycling.  Annex 
2 provides an update on each.  

 Following changes to the way we deliver road safety services staff in the former 
Road Safety Team are now actively engaged in reviewing cycle schemes at a 
formative stage and are assisting in the development of the county’s emerging 
Local Cycling and Walking Investment Plan. 

2.2.4 Public Transport (update) 

 A new commercial service run by Stagecoach West is now being operated out of 
Arle Court Park and Ride site.  The service receives no subsidies from the 
County Council. 

 Community transport providers have expressed concerns over proposed 
changes to guidance around sections 19 and 22 of the Transport Act to be 
brought in by the Government following a court case.  County Council officers are 
working closely with the providers to minimise any impact on service users, while 
monitoring the Government’s position.  The cost per journey for community 
transport has increased for quarter 4, due to a fall in passenger numbers which 
can mainly be attributed to the bad weather. 

2.2.5 Commons and Rights of Way (CROW) Committee 

 Deregulation Act (update) 
o In response to a parliamentary question on 23 April 2018, commencement 

of the Rights of Way provisions contained within the 2015 Deregulation Act 
will be “in the first half of 2019, subject to parliamentary time”. 

 Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMOs, update) 
o Training for committee members was held on 22 June to consider the 

effects of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) on Definitive 
Map Modification Order (DMMO) applications and the new standard User 
Evidence Statement (UES) which we will be adopting. 

o DMMO applications at Bisley-with-Lypiatt, Lechlade and Upper Rissington 
are in the process of being resolved by s.25 or s.26 Highways Act 1980 
orders (express dedication by landowner). 

o Confirmation order for Rodborough application published (determined by 
CROW Committee at January meeting). 

o Dedication agreement finalised with both affected landowners for an 
additional length of the former Tetbury to Kemble railway to become a 
public bridleway between Long Newnton and the Trouble House (subject of 
a DMMO claim). 

2.2.6 Staff Travel (new item) 

 On 24th April we launched our staff pool car scheme with Enterprise Car Club. 
This is also open to elected members.  The rate of take-up to date has exceeded 
that seen by Enterprise in any of its other schemes in the country.  By 26th June 
over 300 staff had registered as users, and over 4,500 miles were travelled in the 
electric, hybrid and low emission cars in May. 

 Other measures to encourage sustainable travel are being progressed, including 
the use of smart travel cards for local bus trips and trialling electric bike trials that 
can help you go further, faster.  

Page 16



3 Infrastructure and Major Projects   

3.1 Major Transport Projects 
3.1.1 Major Schemes 

 A417 Missing Link (update) 
o The public consultation finished on 29 March.  Information regarding the 

consultation can be found here: 
 http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link  
 https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/a417-missing-link/  

o Nearly 2000 responses were received from people/organisations which is 
an extremely good response rate for Highways England, with the majority 
supporting Option 30, the Highways England preferred option. 

o The next step is for Highways England to make a formal ‘Preferred Route 
Announcement’, which it will do later in 2018.   

o Working groups have been established to cover more detailed technical 
aspects of the scheme and GCC officers sit on all 4 of these groups. 

o It is important to keep lobbying for the scheme, as announcements for the 
next Road Investment Strategy (RIS2) will be made over the next year. 

 Cinderford Spine Road (update) 
o Construction works for Phase One of the road have now been completed; 

Snagging and defect work due for completion in Summer 2018. 
o Additional newt license now secured following fencing breached following 

winter storms. 

 Elmbridge (update) 
o Final account and outstanding Contractor payments agreed.  Completed 

snagging and defects list agreed. 
o The next phase of the Elmbridge Transport Scheme (Arle Court) has 

commenced construction 
o Arle Court: 

 Contractors Griffiths are now on site. 
 Works proceeding as planned, excavation and formation of 

foundation layer now complete, kerbing and retention of 
embankment continues. Safety barrier in place, to minimise 
disruption to the public. 

 Road closure exiting Whittington Road in place for duration of the 
works. 

 We are minimising delays to users by restricting traffic management 
to off-peak. 

 Works completion scheduled for the end of August 2018. 
 Fortnightly Bulletins being issued by the contractor to keep 

interested parties up to date. 
o A40 Over Roundabout: 

 Contractors Britannia are now on site. 
 Week night, night time closures are now in place on the A417 

southbound Maisemore (from Maisemore to Over) and on the A40 
Eastbound (from Longford roundabout to Over).  

 Night time sheet piling continues throughout the duration of the 
closures. A number of complaints have been received regarding the 
noise. Contractor has changed piling method in an attempt to 
reduce noise level and make better progress in difficult ground 
conditions. GCC will continue to monitor public feedback and keep 
local members up-to-date. 

Page 17

http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/a417-missing-link/


 Works completion scheduled for the start of September 2018. 
 Fortnightly Bulletins being issued by the contractor to keep 

interested parties up to date. 
o Metz Way: 

 Advanced scheme boards are up, advising of the works set to start 
July 2018 at 8 key sites along Metz way and Abbeymead Avenue. 

o Tenders received and ready to award. 

 Cross Keys roundabout (update) 
o The County Council has been awarded £2.7 million Government funding 

for improvements to the Cross Keys roundabout at the junction of the A38 
and B4008, just north of junction 12 of the M5.  Works include new traffic 
lights on the A38, widening the approach lanes of the roundabout and 
enhancing conditions for buses and cyclists.  The scheme will cost 
£3.851m; the remaining money will be made up of section 106 funding, 
developer contributions and the County Council’s highways budget.   

o Continued progression with detailed design 
o Meeting to be held in June 2018 with developers regarding proposed 

design and impact on future development. 

3.1.2 Local Growth Fund (update) 

 The initial £62.5m Growth Deal funding was announced in July 2014.  This 
included £14.1M major tail-end funding, now reduced to £9.07m to be paid 
directly from the Department for Transport (DfT) to the promoter; this is for the 
Elmbridge Roundabout Scheme.  A further £15M of Growth Deal funding was 
announced in January 2015 and in February 2017, a further £29.13 million was 
secured in the third round of Growth Deal funding for the following projects: 

o Longford Housing – £4.53 million 
o Cyber Business Park – £22 million 
o Gloucestershire College Forest of Dean Campus – £2.6 million 

 In addition to the major tail-end funding allocation (see above), £52,907,000 of 
the total Growth Deal allocation for Gloucestershire is allocated to the following 
transport-related schemes: 

Scheme 
Allocation 

£’000 
Indicative LEP Board 
decision date Promoter 

A419 corridor 4,360 10/10/2017 - approved Gloucestershire County Council  

Lydney strategy 1,000 04/12/2018 Gloucestershire County Council  

Berkeley bridges 1,990 15/12/2015 - approved Gloucestershire County Council  

Cinderford Northern Qtr 3,800 15/12/2015 - approved Gloucestershire County Council  

Glos South West 
Bypass 

2,000 20/02/2018 - approved Gloucestershire County Council  

St Barnabas 
Roundabout 

1,000 Q4 2018/19 Gloucestershire County Council  

B4063 Junction 1,600 Q4 2018/19 Gloucestershire County Council  

A40 Over Rnd & 
Highnam 

2,230 13/12/2016 - approved Gloucestershire County Council  

Abbeymead / Metz Way 500 04/10/2016 - approved Gloucestershire County Council  

Gloucester Transport 
Hub 

6,400 16/02/2016 - approved Gloucester City Council  

Cheltenham Spa 
Railway 

1,497 12/12/2017 approved Great Western Railway 

Longford Housing 4,530 04/12/2018 Tewkesbury Borough Council 

Cheltenham Cyber Park 22,000 tbc Cheltenham Borough Council 

Total Transport 52,907   

Page 18



 
3.1.3 Capital Programme, 2018/19 (update) 

 The proposed allocation of new funds for 2018/19 is as follows: 

STRUCTURAL MAINTENANCE £29,104,000 

Carriageway Surfacing  

 Principal Roads [CLASS A]  £9,930,000 (inc £200k contribution to 
A4173 Scheme) 

 Classified Roads [CLASS B]  £2,520,000 

 Classified Roads [CLASS 3]  £3,463,000 

 Unclassified Roads [CLASS 4 and 
less] 

 £1,100,000 

 Reactive Works  £3,685,000 

 Data Collection, Coring  £330,000 

 Capital Minor Works  £2,000,000 

Other Maintenance  

 Footways and Cycleways  £800,000 

 Safety Fencing  £100,000 

 Bridges  £1,230,000 

 Lighting  £1,546,000 

 Drainage  £500,000 

 Signals  £500,000 

 Slips  £1,000,000 

 Lydney Level Crossings  £400,000 

  

INTEGRATED TRANSPORT £3,134,000 

 Large and Miscellaneous Schemes  £2,334,000 (largely contributions 
towards major schemes already 
approved) 

 Safety Schemes  £400,000 

 Accessibility, Community Parking and 
Public Transport 

 £400,000 

  

MISCELLANEOUS 
(other highways and flood related spend 
that doesn’t fit into the above categories 
e.g. depots, flood alleviation works etc. ) 

£475,000 

 NPIF – Cross Keys Roundabout  £2,696,000 

 Street Lighting LED Project (Salix 
Finance Ltd) 

 £1,705,563 

 Highways Local Project Capital 
Works  

 £1,090,000 

OVERALL TOTAL £38,204,563 

 
3.1.4 Highways England (HE, update) 

 Housing Infrastructure Fund.  The Government announced a new £2.3bn fund for 
local authorities and District Councils to bid to, to deliver new infrastructure to 
support new and existing communities.  The fund is divided into 2 streams:  

o A Marginal Viability Fund –Tewkesbury Borough Council was awarded 
an indicative £8.1m to provide a new bridge over a railway line replacing a 

Page 19



level crossing, to solve a road capacity problem on the A46 and unlock 
development.  Cheltenham Borough Council was awarded an indicative 
£3m to provide public realm improvements at Portland Street to release a 
stalled town centre housing scheme on a brownfield site with consent for 
143 units of which 40% affordable.   

o A Forward Fund – the County Council has entered the ‘co-development’ 
stage with Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) to develop the business case for the £249M M5 Junction 10 
package of measures.  The Council awaits guidance from MHCLG as to 
how to proceed.  There are 3 possible submission dates for the business 
case to MHCLG – September 2018, December 2018 or March 2019.   

o Construction needs to be completed by April 2022. 

 Government has recently released information regarding a ‘Transforming Cities’ 
fund – aimed at ‘city regions’ with a working day population of >200k, and with 
the aim of improving public and sustainable transport connectivity.  The County 
Council submitted a bid to the fund on 8 June.  The bid focuses on the Central 
Severn Vale area of the county, primarily aimed at improving the public transport 
offer, and other sustainable transport measures.  At this stage the DfT does not 
want a list of schemes – that will be developed if the Council is invited to the ‘co-
development’ stage. 

3.1.5 Great Western Rail Franchise (no change) 

 The Government ran a consultation, asking for views on proposals for improving 
train services on the Great Western rail network from April 2020.  The Great 
Western franchise could be split up and the plans, if implemented, would create a 
new West of England rail franchise.  County Council officers submitted an officer-
level response to meet the deadline of 21st February 2018, which has been 
shared with members of this Committee.   

 The DfT is expected to report back during the summer. 

3.2 Planning 
3.2.1 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 (S106) Agreements (update) 

 Within Gloucestershire, progress on District Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedules is as set out in Annex 3.   

 The County Council continues to work with the CIL Charging Authorities to 
support on governance arrangements, CIL preparation and administration.  The 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS) CIL Charging Schedules have recently been though 
the formal examination process (15-17 May). 

 At Gloucestershire County Council, the financial contributions that arise through 
S106 Planning Agreements, agreed with developers to mitigate against the 
specific impacts of a particular development, relate mainly to strategic 
infrastructure, such as highways and transportation, schools and libraries.  Annex 
4 shows the quarterly statistics for S106 contributions agreed, due and received. 

 The Government is consulting on changes to developer contributions to support 
the delivery of housing.  County Council officers have provided an officer 
response. 

3.2.2 Joint Core Strategy (JCS, no change) 

 Following receipt of the Inspector’s final report, all three of the JCS authorities 
have now adopted the JCS.  It is anticipated that the JCS will be immediately 
reviewed, starting in 2018.  

Page 20



3.2.3 Highways Development Management (HDM, update) 

 We are going through a process to recruit to vacant and new positions.. We are 
also working with districts to develop planning performance agreements (PPAs), 
to provide developers with more certainty about the timescales for assessing 
larger applications, mainly in Cheltenham and Gloucester.  A workshop is 
planned with districts, Amey and Legal services to understand how we can make 
best use of PPAs to speed up the delivery of new development in 
Gloucestershire. 

 Since 2012/13 the County Council, as Local Highway Authority (LHA), has 
provided LPAs with standing advice for assessing the transport impact of 
developments of up to five dwellings on minor (mostly residential) and ‘C’ class 
roads where the speed limit is 30mph or less.  The HDM team offers support 
guidance and training to LPAs to assist them with understanding how to apply 
standing advice effectively. 

 Since October 2016, for larger and more complex applications, the County 
Council has also been providing LPAs with summary sheets with an overview of 
the main transport issues, concerns and recommendations.  We have asked 
LPAs to provide copies of these summaries to their members and to include them 
in their reports to planning committee. 

3.2.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, update) 

 Government recently consulted on changes to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  County Council officers submitted a response and shared it 
with Committee members. 

3.3 Waste 
3.3.1 Joint Waste Committee (update) 

 The 2017/18 recycling rate was 54%.  Annex 5 provides more detail on 2017/18 
performance. This is an improvement on previous years due in the main to 
performance improvements in Stroud, Cheltenham and Forest of Dean. We do 
not anticipate any significant change from this level in 2018/19. 

 Work is underway to establish the costs of direct delivery and transfer options for 
moving waste to Javelin Park in 2019.  The results of this work will be used to 
inform Cabinet in the autumn, when a decision will be taken on which option to 
proceed with. 

 A project to replace the aging and unreliable waste compaction equipment at the 
HRCs is underway. This will introduce new mobile compaction equipment to the 
sites, initially at Hempsted and Pyke Quarry, and will provide reliability and 
flexibility for the operations at these sites.  Associated ground repairs will take 
place at the same time to provide a safer working environment.  To facilitate the 
first of these, Pyke Quarry HRC will be closed for 3 weeks commencing 4th June. 

 The 2018/19 communications programme is underway.  This includes a number 
of campaigns aimed at reducing packaging waste, harnessing the current mood 
around the issues of plastic recycling. 

 A review of HRC opening hours is underway. A decision on what changes will be 
adopted will be made by July. 

3.3.2 Residual Waste Project (update) 

 The project continues to make good progress. 

 Process equipment is being installed on site.  The erection of the steel framework 
over the bunker is well underway.  Cladding has commenced on both the 
incinerator bottom ash treatment hall and the administration building/ visitor 
centre.  The stack was erected on site in April. 

Page 21



 Western Power Distribution’s electricity cable installation works are complete. 

 Site operations and Health and Safety continue to a high standard. 

 The Community Liaison Group met in May to discuss the project.  Minutes of the 
Group’s meetings can be found at 
https://www.ubbgloucestershire.co.uk/community-liaison-group/. 

4 Minerals and Waste Planning  

4.1 Minerals Local Plan (MLP, update) 

 On the 31st May 2018 the MLP was published for public inspection for a period of 
6 weeks – ending on Friday 13th July 2018.  This engagement exercise provides 
the final opportunity for interested parties (including the public) to consider and 
express their views on the MLP.  Representations must be tightly focused on 
whether the plan is considered to be ‘legally complaint’ and/ or ‘sound’.  
Soundness represents the collective judgement of whether the plan: has been 
positively prepared; is justified; will be effective; and is consistent with national 
policy.  The County Council is unable to make changes to the plan at this stage 
and can simply note the representations made and consider what possible (if 
any) changes it might be willing to investigate further. 

 The next stage for the MLP is submission to the Secretary of State (SoS) for the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).  All 
representations made between the end of May and July 2018 must also be 
submitted at this time.  The SoS will then appoint an Inspector (from the Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS)) to review the plan and the comments made as part of an 
Independent Examination.  This exercise is likely to include public hearing 
sessions to allow further detailed discussion of points raised and to debate what 
(if any) options are acceptable to resolve issues.  County Council Officers will be 
involved in all public hearing sessions. 

 The County Council aims to submit the MLP by the end of September 2018.  The 
Independent Examination may commence towards the end of 2018 and be 
completed in early 2019. 

 If the MLP successfully passes through the Independent Examination, the County 
Council will be able to proceed to adoption.  This could occur at some point in 
early/ mid-2019. 

5 Community Resilience 

5.1 Renewable Energy Generation on the Council’s Estate (no change) 

 Following the significant reduction of Government subsidy County Council 
officers are reviewing options for the way forward including the viability of future 
investment in ground-mounted solar PV generation on the Council’s estate. 

5.2 Carbon Reduction Programme (update) 

 The Council has a target to reduce carbon emissions from its estate by 60% by 
2020/21 against the 2006/07 baseline.   

 Emissions for the corporate estate (reported a quarter in arrears) continue to be 
significantly ahead of target; a 22% reduction for Apr to Dec 2017/18 with a target 
reduction of 6% against the same period 2016/17.  This will mainly be as a result 
of LED Street Lighting installed under the new contract, together with ICT 
improvements and ongoing works to Shire Hall, coupled with mild weather.   

 Renewable energy generation on the Council's estate remains limited, with solar 
PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire Station.  Solar panels are 
being installed on the roof of Shire Hall as part of the refurbishment and options 
for further investment across the estate are being investigated. 

Page 22

https://www.ubbgloucestershire.co.uk/community-liaison-group/


5.3 Adaptation and Resilience 
5.3.1 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

 Delivering Sustainable Drainage Systems (update): 
o Gloucestershire County Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), 

has a statutory duty to provide substantive responses within 21 days to 
consultation referrals received from the Local Planning Authority regarding 
developer’s proposals for the management of surface water on major 
planning applications. 

o During the period 1st January 2018 to 31st March 2018 the LLFA received 
39 major planning application referrals and responded to 92% of these 
within the 21 day response deadline.   

o In the same period, in addition to the work required to provide advice on 
planning applications, officers have also had to deal with 12 requests for 
pre-application advice and 19 requests to discharge planning conditions. 

 Flood Alleviation Schemes (update) 
o Work is progressing well at Priors/Oakley, north west of Cheltenham on a 

£2.5 million scheme to construct a flood alleviation scheme designed to 
reduce the risk of flooding to 179 properties.  The scheme comprises two 
surface water attenuation basins and a number of channel diversions and 
improvements to watercourses on the Noverton Farm and Priors Farm 
sites.  It involves holding back surface water running off the Cleeve 
escarpment before releasing it back into the existing watercourses at a 
controlled rate.  The nature of the scheme will mean that existing land uses 
can continue after completion and minimise the impact on landowners and 
the local community.  The scheme is expected to be completed by 
October, weather permitting. 

o Investigations are ongoing at Brockworth and Churchdown to assess the 
number of properties at risk of flooding and the viability of installing 
property level protection.  Threshold surveys have been undertaken to 
refine and verify our flood model data.  The next stage will be to consult 
residents and then carry out a technical survey during the summer with a 
view to installation in 2019 subject to funding approval from Defra. 

5.3.2 Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership (LNP, update) 

 The LNP partnership last met in March 2018. 

 No announcement yet on a new chairman. 

 European Structural and Investment Fund (ESIF) 
o Two schemes submitted in the second round have been accepted and are 

now working up full proposals.  Both of these would have County Council 
involvement if they go ahead; i.e. using funds for highways and PRoW 
improvements to bring in match funding for green infrastructure and 
ecological enhancement.  Projects involve works on the Gloucester/ 
Sharpness Canal (County Council leading) and Market Towns 
(Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust leading). 

 LNP Conference date set for Friday 26th October at the University of 
Gloucestershire.  Two levels of aims for the conference were agreed: 

o Top level aim: Making the Business Case for Green Infrastructure (GI) 
o Second level aims:  

 to secure a shift in policy and practice in the county  
 to influence the wider national debate on GI 
 to raise the profile of the LNP and the University 

Page 23



5.3.3 National Adaptation Programme (NAP, update) 

 The Climate Change Act (CCA) 2008 put in place a policy framework to promote 
adaptation action in the UK consisting of: 

o The UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) is a five-yearly 
assessment of the major risks and opportunities from climate change to the 
UK.  The Adaptation Sub-Committee (ASC) of the Committee on Climate 
Change has a duty to advise Government on the preparation of the UK 
Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA).   

o The National Adaptation Programme (NAP) is the Government’s long-term 
strategy to address the main risks and opportunities identified in the 
CCRA, which is also produced every five years.  The next NAP will be 
published in July 2018; the LAAP has commented on the draft Local 
Government chapter. 

o The UK Adaptation Reporting Power grants the Secretary of State the 
power to require public service organisations to produce reports on what 
they are doing to adapt to climate change.  A consultation on the 
Government’s proposed strategy for the third round of the climate change 
Adaptation Reporting Power was conducted in Feb/Mar (more below). 

 The Local Adaptation Advisory Panel (LAAP) for England (update) 
o The LAAP, chaired by the Council’s Commissioning Director, Communities 

& Infrastructure, acts as an efficient forum for dialogue between local 
Government, central Government and arms length delivery bodies.   

o The LAAP met in May to continue its preparations for submitting evidence 
to the Government’s anticipated NAP consultation.   

o The LAAP is looking at how to encourage local authorities to take action, 
together with what a ‘good’ local authority looks like. 

6 Community Resources and Partnership Projects 

6.1 GlosCol RFD Campus Cinderford (no change) 

 Plans to establish a high quality further education and training facility in 
Cinderford’s Northern Quarter are continuing to progress and the College is 
scheduled to open in September 2018.  

6.2 Gloucester and Sharpness Canal (update) 

 The County Council submitted a European Structural and Investment Fund 
(ESIF) Outline Application Form for funding to support the improvement and 
upgrade of canal tow paths in and around Gloucester, on the 10th November.  
Subject to approval the full ESIF business case will be prepared in early 2018 
with a view to commencing works on site in Summer 2018.  S106 monies from 
the Kingsway development have been secured for £508k (which could increase 
further depending on the rate of development).  An application for an 
Environmental Trust Grant of £200k was submitted in December 2017.  There 
are two sections of canal towpath upgrade being proposed: 

1) Approx. 2.7km from High Orchard Bridge to Sims Bridge 
2) Approx. 2.9km from Sims Bridge to The Pilot Public House 

 The first phase of work is currently programmed to be undertaken in late 
Summer/ Autumn 2018 subject to Cabinet approval and communications sign-off. 

6.3 Gloucester Transport Hub (was Gloucester Bus Station, no change) 

 Funding has been secured from the GFirst LEP. 

 Britannia was appointed Contractor for the Highway Works following an open 
tender process, with the City Council acting as Employer under the contract. 

Page 24

https://www.theccc.org.uk/tackling-climate-change/the-legal-landscape/global-action-on-climate-change/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-government-report
https://www.theccc.org.uk/about/structure-and-governance/asc-members/
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/adapting-to-climate-change/supporting-pages/national-adaptation-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/adapting-to-climate-change/supporting-pages/adaptation-reporting-power


 Construction works are substantially complete on the highway scheme with some 
defects and the Stage 3 Safety Audit outstanding.  The works included the 
reopening of Station Road/Bruton Way junction and kerb-line alterations to 
Station Road, the upgrading of the Bruton Way/Station Approach junction 
resurfacing and traffic signal upgrade.  Bruton Way Spur (outside the Land 
Registry Office) has been upgraded with a new shared use footway/cycleway and 
the highway has been re-opened to Westbound traffic.  Work has been 
completed on Market Parade to upgrade the taxi rank and install a zebra crossing 
and puffin crossing. 

 Work is currently underway progressing additional Traffic Regulation Orders are 
required to formalise the parking restrictions on Market Parade and prevent 
motorists from entering Bruton Way Spur in the wrong direction.  It is expected 
these orders will be implemented in summer 2018. 

 Kier was appointed by Gloucester City Council to take forward the design and 
build the new Bus Station.  Kier have installed the steel frame structure and work 
is underway to complete the remaining building works in 2018. 

6.4 Lydney (no change) 

 The overflow rail station car park is now open and the lease has been extended 
by another year. 

6.5 Libraries 
6.5.1 Stonehouse Library relocation (update) 

 Discussions are now advancing and a layout has been agreed.  A report will be 
presented to Property Board on 1st June 2018 with the decision to go to public 
consultation being taken by the Lead Cabinet Member for libraries.  Stonehouse 
Town Council have instructed their legal representative to draw up a draft lease. 

6.5.2 Growth Hub – Tier 3 network (update) 

 The Coleford innovation lab is launching officially on 11th July 2018.  Marketing 
screens have now been fitted and we are in the process of procuring digital 
equipment for each library to support customer access to the Growth Hub 
support via it’s website. 

6.5.3 Nailsworth Library (no change) 

 Nailsworth Town Council had hoped to re-locate the Town Information Centre 
into the library by the end of May, although this timescale is unlikely to be met as 
they need to have further meetings with their volunteers.  It is more likely that this 
move will happen after the summer. 

6.5.4 Share A Book (new item) 

 Following discussions with schools, a new Share A Book service is being 
delivered by the Library from their new Oakley site.  

6.5.5 Registration Services (update) 

 Gloucestershire Registration Services has just received the outcome from it’s 
Annual Performance Report and has been assessed as a highly consistent 
performing district against Key Performance Indicators and national standards, 
compliance against the Public Protection and Counter Fraud (PPCF) Framework, 
our last stock and security review and finally, in our service delivery. 

6.6 ROBUST (Rural-Urban Outlooks – Unlocking Synergies) project (no change) 

 ROBUST is a European research project being delivered by a consortium of 24 
research institutes, local and regional authorities.  The overall goal is to: 

a) Advance our understanding of the interactions and dependencies between 
rural, peri-urban and urban areas; and 

Page 25



b) Identify and promote policies, governance models and practices that foster
mutually beneficial relations. Improved governance arrangements and
synergies between rural, peri-urban and urban areas will in turn contribute
to Europe’s smart sustainable and inclusive growth, maximising the
creation of rural jobs and value-added.

 Gloucestershire is one of the settings for the research, and Gloucestershire
County Council and the University of Gloucestershire’s Countryside and
Community Research Institute are amongst the partners in the consortium.  The
project receives funding from the European Union’s Horizon 2020 research and
innovation programme and will run for four years from June 2017. The UK
Government has recently launched the Industrial Strategy which acknowledges
the importance and value of the UK’s collaboration with partners in the Horizon
2020 programme.

7 Quarterly Performance Update 

7.1 Q4 2017/18 (new item) 

 Key service information reported to Lead Cabinet Members for Quarter 4 2017/18 
has been covered in this report, with the scorecard attached as Annex 6.  There 
are 26 indicators; 7 are ahead of target, 13 are on target, 6 are off target, which 
are addressed in this report and listed below:

o Highways & Floods
 28 day defects repaired or made safe - overall % repaired in time
 % of Sustainable Urban Drainage responses made to Local

Planning Authorities with 21 days
o Road Safety

 Number of killed and seriously injured older people
o Parking & Passenger Transport

 Cost per journey (community transport journeys)

 Information relating to the portfolio of services provided by the Gloucestershire
Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of the County Council is detailed in the Chief
Fire Officer’s report, which includes 2 of the off target indicators:

o Trading Standards
 Number of complaints/ reports of scam activity against vulnerable

individuals
o Fire & Rescue

 % of incidents of dwelling fires attended within 8 minutes - Risk
Category 1

Contact Officer 
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities & Infrastructure 
nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk, 01452 328470 

Page 26

mailto:nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk


LED Street Lighting Programme Summary
2018/19

ANNEX 1

P
age 27



ID Task 

Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

1 PARISH AREAS 197 days Thu 01/03/18 Fri 30/11/18

2 GLOUCESTER 87 days Thu 01/03/18 Fri 29/06/18

3 RENDCOMB 21 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 29/06/18

4 MICKLETON 65 days Mon 02/04/18Fri 29/06/18

5 EBRINGTON 21 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 29/06/18

6 BLEDINGTON 21 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 29/06/18

7 ODDINGTON 21 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 29/06/18

8 BROADWELL 21 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 29/06/18

9 LONGBOROUGH 21 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 29/06/18

10 BLOCKLEY 65 days Mon 02/04/18Fri 29/06/18

11 MORETON-IN-MARSH 87 days Mon 02/04/18Tue 31/07/18

12 CHELTENHAM 87 days Mon 02/04/18Tue 31/07/18

13 WALTON CARDIFF 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

14 WOODMANCOTE 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

15 BADGEWORTH 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

16 DEERHURST 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

17 DIDMARTON 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

18 LEIGH 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

19 BODDINGTON 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

20 STAVERTON 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

21 COBERLEY 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

22 BOURTON-ON-THE-HILL 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

23 COWLEY 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

24 ANDOVERSFORD 66 days Tue 01/05/18 Tue 31/07/18

25 WESTON SUBEDGE 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

26 MAUGERSBURY 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

27 SHIPTON 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

28 CHIPPING CAMPDEN 43 days Fri 01/06/18 Tue 31/07/18

29 TWIGWORTH 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

30 LONGFORD 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

31 NORTHLEACH WITH EASTINGTON66 days Tue 01/05/18 Tue 31/07/18

32 STOKE ORCHARD 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

33 STOW-ON-THE-WOLD 87 days Mon 02/04/18Tue 31/07/18

34 INNSWORTH 22 days Mon 02/07/18Tue 31/07/18

35 WINCHCOMBE 87 days Mon 02/04/18Tue 31/07/18

36 GRETTON 87 days Mon 02/04/18Tue 31/07/18

37 ASHCHURCH 87 days Mon 02/04/18Tue 31/07/18

38 BOURTON-ON-THE-WATER87 days Mon 02/04/18Tue 31/07/18

39 UPTON ST. LEONARDS 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

40 BISHOPS CLEEVE 45 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 31/08/18

41 TEWKESBURY 110 days Mon 02/04/18Fri 31/08/18

42 SOUTHAM 45 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 31/08/18

43 DRYBROOK 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

44 KEMBLE 89 days Tue 01/05/18 Fri 31/08/18

45 CHURCHDOWN 110 days Mon 02/04/18Fri 31/08/18

46 LECHLADE 89 days Tue 01/05/18 Fri 31/08/18

47 HARDWICKE 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

48 LITTLE RISSINGTON 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

49 HUNTLEY 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

50 LONGHOPE 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

51 WHITMINSTER 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

52 GREAT RISSINGTON 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

53 ALDSWORTH 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

54 BIBURY 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

55 NORTH CERNEY 66 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 31/08/18

56 BROCKWORTH 66 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 31/08/18

57 ST. BRIAVELS 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

58 HEWELSFIELD AND BROCKWEIR23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

59 QUENINGTON 66 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 31/08/18

60 STANDISH 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

61 UPPER RISSINGTON 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

62 PITCHCOMBE 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

63 MAISEYHAMPTON 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

64 SOMERFORD KEYNES 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

65 PRESTON 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

66 POULTON 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

67 SHURDINGTON 45 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 31/08/18

68 FAIRFORD 89 days Tue 01/05/18 Fri 31/08/18

12/02 26/02 12/03 26/03 09/04 23/04 07/05 21/05 04/06 18/06 02/07 16/07 30/07 13/08 27/08 10/09 24/09 08/10 22/10 05/11 19/11 03/12

01 February 01 March 01 April 01 May 01 June 01 July 01 August 01 September 01 October 01 November 01 December

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 1

Project: Project1

Date: Thu 12/04/18

P
age 28



ID Task 

Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

69 SWELL 66 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 31/08/18

70 NAUNTON 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

71 HUCCLECOTE 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

72 DAGLINGWORTH 23 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 31/08/18

73 CIRENCESTER 109 days Tue 01/05/18 Fri 28/09/18

74 HARESFIELD 43 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 28/09/18

75 KEMPSFORD 86 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 28/09/18

76 SLIMBRIDGE 20 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 28/09/18

77 DRIFFIELD 20 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 28/09/18

78 LEONARD STANLEY 86 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 28/09/18

79 SOUTH CERNEY 86 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 28/09/18

80 SIDDINGTON 65 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 28/09/18

81 TETBURY UPTON 20 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 28/09/18

82 BERKELEY 20 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 28/09/18

83 DYMOCK 65 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 28/09/18

84 CAM 65 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 28/09/18

85 TETBURY 109 days Fri 01/06/18 Wed 31/10/18

86 DURSLEY 88 days Mon 02/07/18Wed 31/10/18

87 EASTINGTON 43 days Mon 03/09/18Wed 31/10/18

88 KINGSCOTE 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

89 COATES 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

90 ARLINGHAM 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

91 COLEFORD 88 days Mon 02/07/18Wed 31/10/18

92 FRETHERNE WITH SAUL 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

93 WEST DEAN 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

94 NEWENT 88 days Mon 02/07/18Wed 31/10/18

95 HIGHNAM 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

96 WHITESHILL AND RUSCOMBE23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

97 CHERINGTON 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

98 CINDERFORD 88 days Mon 02/07/18Wed 31/10/18

99 RODMARTON 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

100 LONG NEWNTON 23 days Mon 01/10/18Wed 31/10/18

101 CAINSCROSS 131 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 30/11/18

102 SHIPTON MOYNE 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

103 STONEHOUSE 131 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 30/11/18

104 STAUNTON 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

105 REDMARLEY D'ABITOT 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

106 HARTPURY 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

107 FRAMPTON ON SEVERN 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

108 MAISEMORE 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

109 TIBBERTON 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

110 MITCHELDEAN 110 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 30/11/18

111 LITTLEDEAN 45 days Mon 01/10/18Fri 30/11/18

112 WESTBURY-ON-SEVERN 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

113 NEWNHAM 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

114 AVENING 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

115 COALEY 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

116 KING'S STANLEY 65 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 30/11/18

117 WOODCHESTER 131 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 30/11/18

118 RUSPIDGE AND SOUDLEY 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

119 HORSLEY 65 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 30/11/18

120 NYMPSFIELD 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

121 ULEY 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

122 RODBOROUGH 131 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 30/11/18

123 RUARDEAN 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

124 THRUPP 131 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 30/11/18

125 STINCHCOMBE 65 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 30/11/18

126 HAMFALLOW 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

127 LYDBROOK 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

128 ENGLISH BICKNOR 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

129 NEWLAND 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

130 HINTON 65 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 30/11/18

131 STAUNTON COLEFORD 45 days Mon 01/10/18Fri 30/11/18

132 AYLBURTON 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

133 HAM AND STONE 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

134 ALKINGTON 65 days Mon 03/09/18Fri 30/11/18

135 NORTH NIBLEY 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

136 AWRE 45 days Mon 01/10/18Fri 30/11/18

12/02 26/02 12/03 26/03 09/04 23/04 07/05 21/05 04/06 18/06 02/07 16/07 30/07 13/08 27/08 10/09 24/09 08/10 22/10 05/11 19/11 03/12

01 February 01 March 01 April 01 May 01 June 01 July 01 August 01 September 01 October 01 November 01 December

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 2

Project: Project1

Date: Thu 12/04/18

P
age 29



ID Task 

Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

137 LYDNEY 110 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 30/11/18

138 WOTTON-UNDER-EDGE 110 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 30/11/18

139 ALVINGTON 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

140 BOXWELL WITH LEIGHTERTON22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

141 CHALFORD 110 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 30/11/18

142 WOOLASTON 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

143 DOWN AMPNEY 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

144 TIDENHAM 110 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 30/11/18

145 ASHLEWORTH 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

146 PAINSWICK 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

147 STROUD 131 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 30/11/18

148 AMPNEY CRUCIS 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

149 NAILSWORTH 131 days Fri 01/06/18 Fri 30/11/18

150 HILLESLEY AND TRESHAM 88 days Wed 01/08/18Fri 30/11/18

151 ALDERLEY 22 days Thu 01/11/18 Fri 30/11/18

152 MINCHINHAMPTON 110 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 30/11/18

153 RANDWICK 110 days Mon 02/07/18Fri 30/11/18

154 KINGSWOOD 45 days Mon 01/10/18Fri 30/11/18

12/02 26/02 12/03 26/03 09/04 23/04 07/05 21/05 04/06 18/06 02/07 16/07 30/07 13/08 27/08 10/09 24/09 08/10 22/10 05/11 19/11 03/12

01 February 01 March 01 April 01 May 01 June 01 July 01 August 01 September 01 October 01 November 01 December

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 3

Project: Project1

Date: Thu 12/04/18

P
age 30



ANNEX 2: CYCLING UPDATE 
Updates on the cycling initiatives/projects currently underway are set out below: 

Initiative/ 
Scheme 

Update 

Transforming 
Cities Fund 

The Government has announced, as part of the Autumn Budget 2017, the 
creation of the £1.7bn Transforming Cities Fund.  The aim of the Fund is to 
invest in new local transport infrastructure to boost productivity by improving 
public and sustainable transport connectivity. 

Gloucestershire County Council submitted a bid on 8 June 2018.  The bid is 
centred around the Central Severn Vale (CSV) area, where the majority of 
growth will take place up until 2031.  A work day population of over 235K has 
been identified for the CSV, which is above the fund’s qualifying criterion of 
>200K population. 

The bid focuses on enhancing the public transport offer through measures such 
as bus priority, enhanced ticketing and new Euro VI vehicles.  This will be 
supported by enhancements for cycling and walking.  At this stage the 
Department for Transport does not want a list of schemes; this will be worked 
up if the Council is successful and is invited to the next stage of ‘co-
development’. 

Capital 
programme/ 
s106 

 

The County Council has a capital programme for scheme delivery, some of 
which is allocated for cycling schemes.  The following schemes have funding 
allocated for 2017/2018 and 2018/2019: 

2017/18 Schemes 

 Barriers to Cycling Gloucester: Cycle signs, kerbing alterations, tree removal 
and surfacing, completed October 2017; additional coloured surfacing was 
installed in May 2018. 

 Barriers to Cycling Cheltenham: Contraflow cycle lane, completed October 
2017 

 Bristol Road Cycle and Safety Scheme: Cycle lane alterations, completed  
December 2017 

 Pedestrian Cycle Linkages Cold Pool Lane to Morrisons: shared use 
footway/cycleway, construction completed in June 2018. 

 Kingsditch Lane, Cheltenham Cycle Improvements: shared use 

footway/cycleway, completed October 2017. 

2018/19 Schemes 

 Northway Lane, Tewkesbury Cycletrack:  Shared use footway/cycleway. 
Land Acquisition is being finalised and detailed design underway. 

 Gloucester Canal Towpath:  Upgrading the Canal Towpath between 
Gloucester and Hardwicke.  The first phase of works is being programmed 
with the Canal and River Trust, which will deliver works between Monk 
Meadow and Elmore Lane West.  Additional funding sources are being 
sought to deliver a subsequent phase of works in 2019.   

 Bishops Cleeve to Tewkesbury Cycle Signing: cycle signing improvements. 
Design complete, awaiting comments from Sustrans with delivery likely in 
late summer 2018. 

 Bishops Cleeve Cycle Parking – Cycle stand location design underway with 
works likely to be programmed in late Summer 2018. 

 Bishops Cleeve to Cheltenham Cycle Improvements: Provision of new 
shared use cycleway parallel to A435.  Design and landowner negotiations 
underway 

 Pittville to The Park Student Cycle Route:  Cycle signing improvements 
Route investigation undertaken, detailed design to follow  

 Lydney Transport Strategy:  Create and enhance cycle provision to improve 

Page 31



Initiative/ 
Scheme 

Update 

connectivity in Lydney.  LEP Funded scheme and business case being 
prepared. 

 Developer funded improvements to the Highnam Cycletrack 

 Longford Cycle Improvements – early stage review of route options. 

Highways 
England – SRN 
barriers 

Highways England is managing a £100m budget for improving facilities for 
cyclists on the Strategic Road network (SRN).  Their top priority for the 
Gloucestershire area is the link between Gloucester and Cheltenham and a 
package of improvements, worth £3.5m has been proposed by Highways 
England for the B4063. 

HE is expected to lead on the detailed design and consultation for this scheme 
throughout 2018/19.  Construction is likely to take place in 2019/20 and has to 
be complete by March 2020.  The County Council is working with both the HE 
and the LEP to secure additional funds for further improvements on the route.  
HE staff presented to the Cycling Advisory Group meeting on 26 March. 

Cycling and 
Walking 
Investment 
Strategy (CWIS) 

Work is underway on the production of the first phase of the County’s Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). 

The first phase will focus on the Central Severn Vale area and is programmed 
for completion by Autumn 2018.  This will enable the plan to form part of the 
wider Local Transport Plan review process,  

In terms of cycling we intend to identify and prioritise the removal of barriers for 
cycle movements under the following categories: 

 Primary: High flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that link large 
residential areas to trip attractors such as a town or city centre. 

 Secondary: Medium flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that link 
to trip attractors such as schools, colleges and employment sites. 

 Local: Lower flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that cater for 
local cycle trips, often providing links to primary or secondary desire lines. 

In terms of walking we intend to prioritise improvements the removal of barriers 
for cycle movements under the following categories: 

 Primary: High flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that link large 
residential areas to trip attractors such as a town or city centre. 

 Secondary: Medium flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that link 
to trip attractors such as schools, colleges and employment sites. 

 Local: Lower flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that cater for 
local cycle trips, often providing links to primary or secondary desire lines. 

The Government-funded consultancy support will enable stakeholder 
engagement, network audits and technical workshops to be undertaken. 

Gloucestershire 
County Council 
Travel Plan 

 

The County Council’s Travel Plan for the Shire Hall Complex has been 
developed as part of the NUS Green Impact project, which aims to support, 
recognise and accredit organisations for supporting actions on sustainability.  
The Travel Plan also supplements the ongoing brand of Thinktravel, which was 
developed under, the now ended Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) 
programme aimed at encouraging and promoting sustainable travel within 
Gloucestershire.   

The intention was for the travel plan to be adopted by Corporate Management 
Team (CoMT) in February 2016 but this has been delayed due to the ongoing 
changes likely with car parking in relation to the Blackfriars development works 
and Quayside redevelopment.  

An officer working group has been established to take this forward.  

The ‘Thinktravel’ website continues to promote and support cycling see 
https://www.thinktravel.info/  

Page 32

https://www.thinktravel.info/


Initiative/ 
Scheme 

Update 

LTP-Cycle and 
Think travel 
strategies 

LTP was adopted at Full Council on 29 June 2016.  The plan will be reviewed in 
2018/19, including a revised cycle strategy. 

Cycle liaison 
group update 

Cycle liaison group last met on Monday 12 March 2018. 

Cycle 
Champions 

The cross-party Cycling Advisory Group last met on 26th March 2018. 

 

 

 
  

Page 33



ANNEX 3: Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
The table below shows progress on District CIL Charging Schedules. 
 

Local 
Authority 

PDCS 
Consultation 

DCS 
Consultation 

Proposed rates Next steps 

Stroud DC Feb 2014 April – Jun 
2016 

Resi1: £80/Sqm 

Retail2: £75/Sqm 

Adopted and 
effective as of Apr 
2017 

Gloucester 
City Council 

May – Jul 
2015 

May – Jun 
2016 

Resi: 

1-10 units: £0/Sqm 

11+ units: £45/Sqm 

Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but 
generally £35/Sqm 

Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm 

Following a further 
consultation to align 
the DCS with the 
JCS changes in Jul-
Sep 2017, the 

Charging Schedule has 
progressed to: 

Examination: May 
2018 

Adoption: 2018 

Cheltenham 
BC 

May – Jul 
2015 

May – Jun 
2016 

Resi: 

1-10 units: £148/Sqm 

11+ units: £200/Sqm 

Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but 
generally £35/Sqm 

Retirement Homes: 
£200/Sqm 

Extra Care Homes: 
£100/Sqm 

Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm 

Following a further 
consultation to align 
the DCS with the JCS 
Jul-Sep 2017, the 
Charging Schedule has 
progressed to: 

Examination: May 2018 

Adoption: 2018 

Tewkesbury 
BC 

May – Jul 
2015 

May – Jun 
2016 

Resi: 

1-10 units: £104/Sqm 

11+ units: £200/Sqm 

Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but 
generally £35/Sqm 

Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm 

Following a further 
consultation to align 
the DCS with the JCS 
Jul-Sep 2017, the 
Charging Schedule has 
progressed to: 

Examination: May 2018 

Adoption: 2018 

Cotswold 
DC 

Published for 
consultation 
Jun - Aug 
2016 

Oct 2016 Resi1: £80/Sqm 

Retail3: £60/Sqm 

Examination: Dec 
2017 

Adoption: 2018 

Page 34



Local 
Authority 

PDCS 
Consultation 

DCS 
Consultation 

Proposed rates Next steps 

Forest of 
Dean DC 

Not yet 
published 

  The Forest of Dean 
DC Cabinet resolved 
in Apr 2015 to 
support the 
development of a 
potential CIL in the 
District when 
resources are 
available.   

Notes: 
1) Strategic sites are excluded from CIL charge as infrastructure will most likely be secured 

through S106. 
2) Supermarkets and retail warehouses 

3) All retail  

Page 35



ANNEX 4: Section 106 Planning Quarterly Contributions 
 
The tables below show the quarterly statistics for S106 contributions agreed, due and 
received. 

Negotiated Financial Contributions – Table 1 

Overview: 

 Table 1 details the number of S106 Planning Agreements/Unilateral 
Undertakings signed and total contributions negotiated and agreed to support the 
provision of highways, education & libraries infrastructure in Gloucestershire per 
quarter. 

 These contributions will only become due to the County Council on 
implementation of the planning permission and respective trigger dates as 
detailed in individual agreements. 

 The signed agreements include those with a valid planning consent as well as 
those that are subject to appeal.  For example; the headline figure in Q3 (October 
2015 – December 2015) included the Leckhampton (Shurdington Road, 650 
dwellings) development/agreement, with a negotiated value of over £6.5m, which 
was dismissed on appeal.  In Q4 (January 2016 – March 2016), the 
Leckhampton (Farm Lane, 377 dwellings) development/agreement with a 
negotiated value of £2,728,142.00 was allowed on appeal. 

Latest Analysis Q4 - 2018: 

 Of the 2 agreements signed in this quarter, the agreement with the largest 
negotiated value of £376,741.00, which related to Land off Kidnappers Lane, was 
dismissed on appeal in April 2018. 

Table 1: 

2015/2016 No. of Agreements  
Signed 

Total Value 
Negotiated  

Q1 April - June 11 £1,935,109.45 

Q2 July - September 10 £1,574,110.00 

Q3 October - December 7 £8,327,342.00 

Q4 January - March 15 £8,216,894.00 

2016/2017   

Q1 April – June  11 £1,737,570.00 

Q2 July - September 11 £2,234,717.00 

Q3 October -December 6 £1,246,812.00 

Q4 January – March 3 £1,437,439.00 

2017/2018   

Q1 April – June 11 £4,117,000.00 

Q2 July - September 17 £15,641,000.00 

Q3 – October - 
December 

10 £3,746,880.00 

Q4 – January – March  2 £429,580.00 

  

Page 36



S106 Contributions Due: 

The table below shows details of developments with contributions valued over £100,000 
that have become due in Mar 2018 to date.   

Developer Amount Development/Contribution 

Cotswold Motor Group £219,403.00 North Road West/ Grovefield Way – 
Highway 

Bloor Homes Western £212,803.00 Land North of Roman Way – Education 
and Library  

Persimmon Homes Severn 
Valley 

£104,130.00 GCHQ Oakley – Education  

S106 Contributions Received: 

Contributions become due on trigger dates which are set out in each agreement.  The 
table below shows the contributions valued over £100,000 that have been received during 
April 2018 to date.   

Developer Amount  Received in Jan-Feb 2018 

Taylor Wimpey, Bristol £293,076.00 Homelands farm – Highways 

Miller Homes £146,070.00 Land off Broad Marston Road – 
Education  

Redrow Homes  £844,501.00 Farm Lane, Leckhampton – 
Education and Library 

Lioncourt Homes £123,169.00 Bentham Lane – Education 

Page 37



ANNEX 5: Waste Performance for 2017/18 
 

 
2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

2017/18 
Actual 

Total Municipal Waste 293,833 288,680 280,205 278,355 287,823 298,019 301,432 309,470 304,103 

Variance -4.4% -1.8% -2.9% -0.7% 3.4% 3.5% 1.1% 2.7% -1.7% 

Municipal Waste Landfilled 169,023 152,956 147,092 144,822 155,366 161,009 156,498 153,556 143,249 

Variance -4.2% -9.5% -3.8% -1.5% 7.3% 3.6% -2.8% -1.9% -6.7% 

 

 
2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

2017/18 
Actual 

Total Household Waste 276,816 273,373 261,792 261,291 266,475 275,949 277,864 286,638 281,906 

Variance -4.5% -1.2% -4.2% -0.2% 2.0% 3.6% 0.7% 3.2% -1.7% 

Household Waste Landfilled 161,072 145,911 137,337 134,504 138,141 146,335 146,158 136,435 127,564 

Variance -3.6% -9.4% -5.9% -2.1% 2.7% 3.6% -0.1% -6.7% -6.5% 

Reuse & Recycling 66,501 70,348 68,771 70,189 71,075 69,967 73,029 80,116 82,241 

Variance -5.7% 5.8% -2.2% 2.1% 1.3% -1.6% 4.4% 9.7% 2.7% 

Food & Garden Waste 49,244 54,914 55,100 55,803 56,637 60,104 59,132 69,618 71,363 

Variance -2.9% 11.5% 0.3% 1.3% 1.5% 6.1% -1.6% 17.7% 2.5% 

Total Recycling 115,744 125,262 123,871 125,992 127,712 130,071 132,161 148,832 153,604 

Variance 4.5% -8.2% 1.1% -1.7% -1.4% -1.8% 1.6% 12.6% 3.2% 

 
 

P
age 38



 

P
age 39



Environment & Communities Scrutiny Scorecard

Quarter 4 2017/18

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page no.
Key to Symbols 2
Highways & Flood 3
Fire, Planning & Infrastructure & Waste 4
Strategic Risk Register Summary 7

ANNEX 6

P
age 40



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Level of
Risk Score

Low 1 - 6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Performance better than tolerance

Performance within tolerance

Performance worse than tolerance

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)
Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols - Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with

the Likelihood of each risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 41



Highways & Flood
Cllr Vernon Smith

Highways & Floods

28 day defects repaired or
made safe - overall %
repaired in time (other
defects)

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

92.8 % 96.4 % 98.0 % 94.5 % 77.8 % 95.0 %

Due to extensive snow events across the county resources
were used to keep the highways clear. Defects buried by
snow cannot be located. Estimated at least three weeks
lost due to weather.

Publicly
Reported

% delivery of the annual
gulley emptying
programme

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter 100.0 % 34.0 % 52.0 % 89.0 % 113.0 % 100.0 %

Publicly
Reported

% of Sustainable Urban
Drainage responses made
to Local Planning
Authorities within 21 days

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter 100.0 % 98.0 % 98.0 % 100.0 % 93.0 % 95.0 %

We received 75 referrals in the 4th Quarter and responded
to 70 within the 21 days statutory deadline. Of the 5
responses outside the deadline 3 of these were within only
3 days of the deadline. The other outstanding 2 responses
have been delayed by the need for more information from
the applicant and complications with information missing
from the planning portal.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Q4 (2016/17) Q1 (2017/18) Q2 (2017/18) Q3 (2017/18) Q4 (2017/18) Q4 Target

(2017/18) Comments Q4 (2017/18)

3

P
age 42



Fire, Planning & Infrastructure
Waste 

Cllr Nigel Moor

Trading Standards

Number of
complaints/reports of scam
activity against vulnerable
individuals (includes
doorstep crime)

Bigger is
Better 83 160 254 338 366

The number of reports received is entirely dependant on
referrals from other services, mainly Adult Social Care,
Police and the national call centre. Targets were based on
reporting figures for the previous year.  Variations in
reported figures may be explained by any number of
factors including fewer scams.  We are continuing to work
closely with local -partners, especially the Police and Adult
Social Care to improve data sharing and joint working to
support scam victims. 

Publicly
Reported

% of complaints/reports of
scam activity against
vulnerable individuals
where there is a trader
present or immediate risk
of additional loss
responded to within 1
working day

Bigger is
Better

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Q4 (2016/17) Q1 (2017/18) Q2 (2017/18) Q3 (2017/18) Q4 (2017/18) Q4 Target

(2017/18) Comments Q4 (2017/18)

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 277 66 134 225 312 279 Publicly
Reported

(A) Number of killed and
seriously injured children

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 20 4 10 12 18 20 Publicly
Reported

(B) Number of killed and
seriously injured older
people

Smaller is
Better Year to Date 59 12 27 49 73 59

Result is a provisional figure.  The most recent quarter has
seen an increase. The higher older population, increasing
retirement age and more active retirements have probably
contributed to the higher totals.  We will be undertaking a
detailed study of the older road user casualties.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Q4 (2016) Q1 (2017) Q2 (2017) Q3 (2017) Q4 (2017) Q4 Forecast

(2017) Comments Q4 (2017)

4

P
age 43



Cost per journey
(community transport
journeys)

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter £4.00 £3.61 £3.90 £3.90 £4.17 £4.00

Cost per passenger has increased due to fall in passenger
numbers for Q4. This fall can mainly be attributed to poor
weather.

Publicly
Reported

Number of bus services in
receipt of subsidy

Plan is Best Year to Date 105 105 103 103 104 105 Publicly
Reported

Number of community
transport bus journeys

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 32,802 31,607 26,623 30,530 28,725 28,000 This fall can mainly be attributed to poor weather. Publicly
Reported

Average cost per single
passenger journey on
public transport

Smaller is
Better £1.38 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45 £1.44 £1.45

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Q4 (2016/17) Q1 (2017/18) Q2 (2017/18) Q3 (2017/18) Q4 (2017/18) Q4 Target

(2017/18) Comments Q4 (2017/18)

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better Year to Date 1,730 1,684 1,710 1,909 2,342 1,700

A significant increase in Safe and Well visits during Q3
and Q4 due to collaboration work with partners in
community risk profiling, risk area analysis and an increase
in referrals through partnership working. The year-end total
is the highest achieved to date.         

Publicly
Reported

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes - Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter 77.0 % 70.0 % 85.0 % 81.3 % 76.9 % 80.0 %

Incidents of dwelling fires attended within 8 minutes
risk category 1 - target 80 actual 76.9

The results are based on 13 incidents involving dwelling
fires where 3 incidents exceeded the 8 minute response.
Delays were caused by traffic congestion, road works and
crews carrying out other committed activity.

Publicly
Reported

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

75.0 % 69.0 % 71.0 % 82.0 % 75.0 %

A significant improvement in Q4 of 82% with an overall
annual total of 76%. During Q4, a total of 2,331 safe and
well visits, making a total of 7,636 for the year end. This is
the highest recorded total to date. We are piloting different
approaches to engage with the community to generate
Safe and Well visits in collaboration with the Police and
other partners, including community engagement in high
risk areas (known as Category 1) and community action
days in retained rural areas. These collaborations focus on
geographical areas of concern as well as partner referrals. 

Publicly
Reported

Number of Accidental
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better Year to Date 68 62 60 83 73 73

A total of 278 for the year is within the annual target of
292. This is an improvement on last year's total of 299. Q3
and Q4 are predictably higher due to seasonally-related
ignition sources in the home during colder months and the
festive period.      

Publicly
Reported

Number of Deliberate
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 1 5 1 5 5 5 Within target and a slight improvement on last year. Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Q4 (2016/17) Q1 (2017/18) Q2 (2017/18) Q3 (2017/18) Q4 (2017/18) Q4 Target

(2017/18) Comments Q4 (2017/18)

5

Parking & Passenger Transport

P
age 44



Climate Change

Renewable energy
generation (kWh) from the
Council Estate (exc
schools)

Bigger is
Better

8,681 10,207 3,901 7,271 7,875
Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV.

Publicly
Reported

Renewable Energy
Generation from the
Council Estate (exc
schools) % of total energy
consumption

Bigger is
Better 0.01 % 0.01 % 0.03 % 0.03 % 0.02 %

Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV

Publicly
Reported

Overall Council Carbon
Emission, buildings &
transport (excluding
schools) Tonnes of CO2

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 9,823 14,165 2,420 4,663 8,242 8,770
Significantly ahead of target performance due to the on-
going LED street lighting works and improvements to Shire
Hall, together with mild weather.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis - No Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Q3 (2016/17) Q4 (2016/17) Q1 (2017/18) Q2 (2017/18) Q3 (2017/18) Comments Q3 (2017/18)

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Q3 (2016/17) Q4 (2016/17) Q1 (2017/18) Q2 (2017/18) Q3 (2017/18) Q3 Target

(2017/18) Comments Q3 (2017/18)

Waste

Cost to dispose of landfill waste per
household (£s per annum)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast £53 £55 £55 £55 Publicly
Reported

Percentage of household waste sent for reuse,
recycling and composting

Bigger is
Better

Forecast 47.14 % 47.35 % 51.87 % 54.45 % 54.00 % Publicly
Reported

Percentage of municipal waste landfilled. Smaller is
Better

Forecast 53.99 % 52.19 % 49.74 % 45.41 % 46.00 % Publicly
Reported

Residual household waste per household (kgs) Smaller is
Better

Forecast 531 531 496 457 467 Publicly
Reported

Overall residual waste arisings (except HRC's) Tonnes Smaller is
Better

Forecast 127,286 126,582 118,259 117,230 119,342 Publicly
Reported

% of household waste sent to landfill Smaller is
Better

Forecast 45.20 % 46.00 % Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Forecast - No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q1)

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q2)

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q3)

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q4)

Comments Q4 (2017/18)

Quarterly Trend Analysis - Forecast Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Outturn
2014/15

Outturn
2015/16

Outturn
2016/17

Outturn
2017/18

Target
Outturn
2017/18

Comments (2017/18)

6

P
age 45



Strategic Risk Register Summary

SR4.1
Failure to deliver expected benefits/outcomes from the Residual
waste project impacting on future budgets and the
environment.

Riglar, Nigel High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Project remains on schedule

SR9.1 Failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent Strategy impacting
on the residents and businesses of Gloucestershire Edgar, Stewart High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

SR9.2 Failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent Strategy impacting
on the council's reputation due to exposure in national media Edgar, Stewart High 25 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

Strategic Risk 4: Waste Management
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q4 16/17
Residual Risk
Q1 17/18

Residual Risk
Q2 17/18

Residual Risk
Q3 17/18

Residual Risk
Q4 17/18

Direction of
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

Strategic Risk 9: Gloucestershire Prevent
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q4 16/17
Residual Risk
Q1 17/18

Residual Risk
Q2 17/18

Residual Risk
Q3 17/18

Residual Risk
Q4 17/18

Direction of
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

7

SR10.1

Inability of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
an incident or event external to the council that results in
community disruption and failure to return to normal, within
required timescales.

Edgar, Stewart High 15 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

SR10.3 Implications of the Policing and Crime Bill impacting on the Fire
& Rescue Service and County Council Edgar, Stewart High 15 High 15 High 15 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

SR12.1

Failure of the Council/Gloucestershire to adapt to a more
volatile climate, with rising temperatures, continually high and
increasing energy prices and the increasing need to reduce
carbon emissions.

Riglar, Nigel High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

In summary for Q3, 2017/18 (reported in arrears):
GCC estate emissions remain significantly ahead of
target, which will mainly be as a result of LED Street
Lighting installed under the new contract, together
with ICT improvements and works to Shire Hall,
coupled with mild weather.
Renewable energy generation on the Council's estate
is currently limited. Options for further investment are
being investigated.

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q4 16/17
Residual Risk
Q1 17/18

Residual Risk
Q2 17/18

Residual Risk
Q3 17/18

Residual Risk
Q4 17/18

Direction of
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

Strategic Risk 12: Climate Change
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q4 16/17
Residual Risk
Q1 17/18

Residual Risk
Q2 17/18

Residual Risk
Q3 17/18

Residual Risk
Q4 17/18

Direction of
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

P
age 46



ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2018-19

11 July 2018 19 September 2018 7 November 2018 16 January 2019

Quarter 4 2017/18
Performance Report

Quarter 1 2018/19
Performance Report

Quarter 2 2018/19
 Performance Report

Libraries – to receive a report on 
how libraries have developed, the 

range of services provided by 
libraries, and community hub 

relationships 

Cotswold National Park Status – to 
receive an update from dual-hatted 

GEGSC/ECOSC members on 
progress with the scrutiny review of 

the proposal

To receive an update on 
measures to address the backlog 

of applications for Modification 
Orders to the Definitive Map from 

the Cabinet Member for Fire, 
Planning and Infrastructure 

(TBC)

Electric Vehicle Infrastructure – to 
receive a report

Trading Standards – to receive a 
report on performance

Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy Annual Improvement Plan – 

to receive a report (TBC)

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 9



6 March 2019 22 May 2019 17 July 2019 18 September 2019

 

FUTURE ITEMS

1 Soft Flood Alleviation Schemes 6 Footways (in relation to Motion 787: Pavements) 
– to be revisited early 2019

2 Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport 7 To receive a report from the outreach DMMO post 
holder regarding DMMO application demand (to be 
received 6 months from their commencement in role)

3 Infrastructure South – including the third river 
crossing

8

4 Advice from Gloucestershire County Council (as 
Lead Local Flood Authority) to local planning 
authorities

5 Infrastructure Planning

P
age 48


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	9 May 2018 Action Sheet

	5 Libraries
	7 Chief Fire Officer Report
	8 Commissioning Directors Report
	20180711 ECSC Commissioning Directors Report APPROVED but missing annexes.pdf
	20180711 ECSC Commissioning Directors Report APPROVED
	20180711 ECSC Commissioning Directors Report APPROVED but missing annexes
	20180711 ECSC Dir Report ANNEX 1 LED SL Prog 18-19 Summary
	Pages from 20180711 ECSC Dir Report ANNEX 6 Q4 1718 performance scorecard.pdf
	20180711 ECSC Dir Report ANNEX 1 LED SL Prog Summary.pdf

	20180711 ECSC Dir Report ANNEX 6 Q4 1718 performance scorecard
	LED SL Prog Summary


	9 Work Plan



